Public Document Pack

Assets of Community Value and Local Heritage List
Committee
Remote Meeting
Date:

To be reconvened on Thursday, 18th June, 2020 (adjourned on 10th
June, 2020)

Time:

11.00 am

Venue:

Zoom - https://zoom.us/

Chair:
Members:

Councillor C Day
Councillors D Eke, P Lees and L Pepper

Public Participation
At the start of the meeting there will be an opportunity of up to 15 minutes for
members of the public to ask questions and make statements subject to having
given notice by 12 noon two working days before the meeting.
Public speakers will be offered the opportunity for an officer to read out their
questions or statement at the meeting, or to attend the meeting over Zoom to read
out their questions or statement themselves.
Members of the public who would like to listen to the meeting live can do so here.

AGENDA
PART 1
Open to Public and Press
1

Election of a Chair - Considered on 10 June 2020
To receive nominations and elect a Chair.

2

Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest

To receive apologies for absence and declarations of interest.
3

Minutes of the previous meeting - Considered on 10 June 2020

4

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting.
4

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield including runway,
Stebbing, as an Asset of Community Value
To consider the nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield including
runway, Stebbing, as an Asset of Community Value.

5

Timetable for possible re-listing of Asset of Community Value
To receive a verbal update on the timetable for the possible relisting of Assets of Community Value in Uttlesford.

5 - 71

VIRTUAL MEETINGS AND THE PUBLIC
Members of the public are welcome to listen to the debate of any of the Council’s
Cabinet or Committee virtual meetings. The broadcast, as well as all agendas,
reports and minutes can be found on the Council’s website www.uttlesford.gov.uk.
For background papers in relation to this meeting please contact
committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510410/548.
Members of the public and representatives of parish and town councils are permitted
to speak or ask questions at this meeting. Please register your intention to speak at
this meeting by writing to Democratic Services at committee@uttlesford.gov.uk by
midday two working days before the meeting.
The agenda is split into two parts. Most of the business is dealt with in Part I which
is open to the public. Part II includes items which may be discussed in the absence
of the press or public, as they deal with information which is personal or sensitive for
some other reason. You will be asked to leave the meeting before Part II items are
discussed.
Agenda and Minutes are available in alternative formats and/or languages. For more
information please call 01799 510510.
Facilities for people with disabilities
The Council Offices has facilities for wheelchair users, including lifts and toilets. The
Council Chamber has an induction loop so that those who have hearing difficulties
can hear the debate.
If you are deaf or have impaired hearing and would like a signer available at a
meeting, please contact committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510548/410
as soon as possible prior to the meeting.

For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510410 or 510548
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER
Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550
Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3
ASSETS OF COMMUNITY VALUE AND LOCAL HERITAGE LIST
COMMITTEE held at COMMITTEE ROOM - COUNCIL OFFICES, LONDON
ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN, ESSEX CB11 4ER, on MONDAY, 19 AUGUST
2019 at 3.30 pm

ACV1

Present:

Councillors D Eke, A Gerard and P Lees

Officers in
attendance:

A Bochel (Democratic Services Officer), R Coox (Legal
Assistant/Paralegal) and E Smith (Solicitor)

ELECTION OF A CHAIR
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor Gerard as Chair, and Councillor
Lees as Vice Chair of the Assets of Community Value and Local
Heritage List Committee.

ACV2

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Eke declared a non-pecuniary personal interest as a member of
Saffron Walden Town Council.

ACV3

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the previous meeting were signed and approved as a correct
record.

ACV4

NOMINATIONS FOR ASSETS OF COMMUNITY VALUE - FELSTED AND
SAFFRON WALDEN
Members considered the report. It was agreed the Felsted Memorial Hall, and
the Adult Community Learning Venue and Essex Cares Ltd Day Centre, Saffron
Walden met the required criteria of an Asset of Community Value.
RESOLVED to list the Felsted Memorial Hall, and the Adult
Community Learning Venue and Essex Cares Ltd Day Centre,
Saffron Walden as Assets of Community Value.
The meeting closed at 15.45.

Page 4

Agenda Item 4
Committee:

Asset of Community Value Committee

Date:

Title:

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield including
runway (Stebbing) as an Asset of Community
Value

10 June 2020

Portfolio
Holder:

Cllr Colin Day, Portfolio Holder for
Communities, Youth, Public Safety and the
Police and Fire Service Liaison

Report
Author:

Joanna Hill – Planning Policy Officer

Key decision:

jhill@uttlesford.gov.uk

No

Summary
1. The Localism Act 2011 introduces a concept of an ‘Asset of Community
Value’. Section 87 of the Localism Act places a duty of Local Authorities to
‘maintain a list of land in its area that is land of community value’.
2. An Asset is of Community Value if (in the opinion of the local authority) either:
 an actual current use of the building or other land that is not an ancillary use
furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community, and
 it is realistic to think that there can continue to be non-ancillary use of the
building or other land which will further (whether or not in the same way) the
social wellbeing or social interests of the local community.
or
 there is a time in the recent past when an actual use of the building or other
land that was not an ancillary use furthered the social wellbeing or interests
of the local community, and
 it is realistic to think that there is a time in the next five years when there
could be non-ancillary use of the building or other land that would further
(whether or not in the same way as before) the social wellbeing or social
interests of the local community.
3. The Act states that “social interest” “includes (in particular) each of the
following – (a) cultural interest, (b) recreation interest and (c) sporting
interests.
4. Assets of Community Value (AoCV) are buildings or land which involve the
physical use by the community and include for example a village shop, pub,
community centre, allotment or recreation ground.

Page 5

5. If a valid nomination is submitted and the land or buildings meet the criteria set
out in paragraph 2, the land/buildings must be included in the list of Assets of
Community Value. If the answer to any question is “no”, the land/buildings
cannot be listed as an asset of community value.
6. The purpose of this report is to enable members to determine:
a) Whether this is a valid nomination;
b) Whether the use of the building (current or recent past) furthers the social
welling or interests of the local community;
c) Whether it is realistic to think that in the next 5 years the building could be
used to further the social wellbeing or interests of the community.
d) In considering these questions, members need to consider principal, rather
than ancillary, uses of the building or site;
e) If members conclude that the answers to these questions are “yes”, the
building should be included in the list of Assets of Community Value.
7. Andrewsfield Airfield lies partly in the Uttlesford district and partly in the
Braintree district. The Councils are under a duty to cooperate with each other
in carrying out their respective functions under the Localism Act 2011. The
Councils must decide whether the Property should be included in their
respective Lists of Assets of Community Value by 25 June 2020.
Recommendations
8. That members determine whether to list Andrewsfield Airfield as an Asset of
Community Value.
9. That members consider whether sufficient evidence has been submitted to
indicate that the non-ancillary use of the site, including the airfield and runway
(current or recent past) furthers the social welling or interests of the local
community; And whether the evidence submitted in May 2020 is further to that
submitted in December 2017, which was considered insufficient by Uttlesford
District Council (UDC) and Braintree District Council (BDC).
10. In this complex nomination, it is recommended that Members focus on two key
considerations to ascertain whether the site qualifies as an AoCV:
 Sport and recreation – is their sufficient evidence detailing sport and
recreation non-ancillary use of the site? And is it sufficient that the
focus for recreational use is on the access track to the
Café/Clubhouse.
 Aviation as recreation and community – Does an airfield and flying
club offering services for flying private aircraft and flying training for
private and commercial pilots further the cultural, recreation and
sporting interests of the local community?

2

Page 6

11. It is recommended that the following considerations are disregarded,
reasons for each are given in the body of the report:
 Relationship to the Millibar Café and Clubhouse
 A habitat for migrating birds
 Community support undertaken by draft Neighbourhood Plans
 Historic interest
12. At the point of writing this report (15 May 2020) it is the Planning Officer’s view
that insufficient evidence has been submitted, recording the level and
frequency of use of the site by the local community, or by data gathered as
part of neighbourhood plans community consultation, to indicate substantial
use by the wider local community, rather than the specialist flying community.
The use of the site is private agricultural land and a private airfield, sport and
recreation is ancillary.
Financial Implications
13. There are direct financial implications arising at this stage which relate to the
formal process of identifying and contacting asset owners and, if relevant,
registering an asset as a Land Charge. These costs can be met from existing
budget and staff resources.
14. There is also an unquantifiable financial risk to the Council, if there was a
claim for compensation. This needs to be kept under review and at an
appropriate time consideration should be given to establishing a contingency
reserve to mitigate the risk to the Council’s budget. However, the potential
liability should not be taken into account in deciding whether or not this is an
asset of community value.
Background Papers
15. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this
report and are available for inspection from the author of the report:
 24 January 2018 - Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee Report,
Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset
of community value (UDC)
 Printed minutes 24 Jan 2018 Assets of Community Value Committee (UDC)
 29 January 2018 - Braintree District Council Decision Notice – re
nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield
 12 July 2018 Uttlesford District Council Cabinet Report - Nomination of the
Club House, Millibar Café, ancillary buildings and car park at Andrewsfield
Airfield Stebbing as an Asset of Community Value
 Revised nomination form 22 May 2020
16. The nomination form in full and maps are in the Appendix of this report. The
full nomination form with Appendix and can be viewed on the website under
currently nominated assets.

3

Page 7

Impact
17.
Communication/
Consultation

In line with paragraph 8 of The Assets of
Community Value (England) Regulations 2012 the
Council have taken all practicable steps to give
information that it is considering listing the land to
the owner of the land, freeholder and occupant.
This has taken the form of letters.

Community Safety

No impact.

Equalities

The duty will affect all equally.

Health and Safety

No impact.

Human Rights / Legal
Implications

Pursuant to s.19 Human Rights Act 1998 the
Secretary of State has certified that in his opinion
the Localism Act is compatible with the
Convention rights.

Sustainability

If the land is included on the list of Community
Assets it will form a Land Charge.

Ward-specific impacts

Stebbing

Workforce/Workplace

No impact

Situation
a) History of the site
18. In 2017, Great Saling Parish Council nominated Andrewsfield Airfield as an
AoCV. The nomination was led by Braintree District Council (BDC). It was
identified as a complex application, identifying three separate uses: the airfield,
open space and the clubhouse. UDC and BDC decided that the site was not
land of community value for the following reasons:
 The airfield and the associated commercial organisation does not further the
social wellbeing or social interests of the wider local community, as for
example a local sports team might;
 The WWII history of the Site is noted with interest but not enough evidence
was given to show that this furthers the cultural interests of the local
community;

4

Page 8

 Not enough information was supplied to be able to conclude that the
weather station furthers the social interests or social wellbeing of the local
community;
 With regard to visitors and local community walking and cycling on the open
space. No other information was supplied about the use of the open space.
A large proportion of the Site is actually agricultural fields, however UDC
and BDC were unable to conclude that cyclists and walkers using the Site
further the social interests of the local community as it was not clear where
this activity takes place or the frequency. There is no public footpath which
traverses the Site.
UDC/BDC were satisfied that use of the café/bar could further the social
interests and wellbeing of the local community, however, it was considered
ancillary to the main use of the site. In January 2018, UDC and BDC made
the decision that the Site is not land of community value and it was not listed
as an Asset of Community Value.
In 2018, Stebbing Parish Council nominated the Clubhouse and Millibar Cafe,
and ancillary buildings and car park at Andrewsfield Airfield as an AoCV. UDC
decided at Cabinet on 12 July 2018 to include the Site in its List of Assets of
Community Value. Uttlesford and Braintree District Councils were both of the
opinion that the Site is land of community value.
b) Is this a valid nomination
19. Nomination for listing as an asset of community value may only be made by a
parish council or by a qualifying community body. In both cases, the
nominating body must have a local connection.
20. The nomination has been made by Stebbing Parish Council to UDC. The site
is located within the parishes of Great Saling, Braintree District and Stebbing
Parish, Uttlesford District. The district boundary is shown by the black line in
the map below:

5

Page 9

21. A parish council has a local connection with land in another parish council’s
area if any part of the boundary of the first council’s area is also part of the
boundary of the other council’s area. (Assets of Community Value (England)
Regulations 2012 regulation 4(2)(a).
22. Section 102 of the Localism Act 2011 states that if different parts of any land
are in different local authority areas, the local authorities concerned must
cooperate with each other in carrying out functions under this Chapter in
relation to any land or any part of it. There is no guidance on the form cooperation should take or on what happens if two authorities reach different
conclusions.
23. Braintree District Council is determining the nomination in accordance with
their agreed practice.
24. A nomination must also include:
i.

A description of the nominated land including its proposed
boundaries;

ii.

Any information the nominator has about the freeholders,
leaseholders and current occupants of the site;

iii.

The reasons for nominating the asset, explaining why the nominator
believes the asset meets the definition in the Act.

The nomination submitted by the Parish Council includes this information.

c) Is the land “operational”?

6

Page 10

25. The Assets of Community Value Regulations 2012 prohibit the Council from
listing “operational land” as defined in section 263, Town and Country Planning
Act, 1990. The definition in the 1990 Act cross-refers to other legislation and it
is not wholly clear whether this is operational land. On the basis of available
information, the officer view is that it is not operational land. No
representations have been received from the owners to this effect. If it
emerges that this is operational land, it cannot be listed.

d) Is there an actual current use of the building/land, not an ancillary
use, which furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community OR Is there a time in the recent past when an actual use of
the building or other land that was not an ancillary use furthered the
social wellbeing or social interests of the local community?
26. In determining whether use of land furthers the social wellbeing or social
interests of the local community, members can take a broad view but there
needs to be some sort of social benefit to the community. The legislation
defines "social interests" to include cultural interests, recreational interests and
sporting interests, which could typically include ACVs of the following type:
 A community building, such as a village hall
 A building or land of local historical value
 A public house
 A sports ground
 A local park
 A playing field
This is not, however, an exclusive list and other uses may qualify.
27. Uses that further the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community
do not count if the use is “ancillary”. The concept of an “ancillary” use is not
straightforward. The test does not involve determining which use is the primary
use. Rather it is necessary to look at the overall picture to ascertain whether
the community use is a significant use in its own right in the context of the
particular nominated land and not subsidiary to another use. For example, car
parking attached to a village hall might be an ancillary use if only used by
visitors to the hall. (It would be subordinate to another use.) However, in
different circumstances, car parking attached to a village hall might amount to
a significant use in its own right beyond accessing the village hall.
28. The site is currently operates as a Licensed UK aerodrome (Prior Permission
Required only). According to the website (http://andrewsfield.com/aboutandrewsfield/) a wide range of flying courses are offered. Hangarage is
sometimes available; aircraft parking is available. There is a clubhouse with
fully equipped briefing rooms, pilot shop and offices. The club is open 7 days
a week from 9:00am during the summer and from 8:30am during the winter.
There is also a licensed bar and restaurant, The Millibar, which opens daily
8:30am – 9pm and 12 noon until 3pm, and it is open to the general public.

7

Page 11

29. The nomination form sets out how Stebbing Parish Council consider that the
wider Andrews Airfield site furthers the social wellbeing or interests of the
community. This includes:
 Relationship to the Millibar Café (already listed as an AoCV)
 A sports and recreation asset
 A habitat for migrating birds
 The Aviation community
 Community support undertaken by draft Neighbourhood Plans
 Historic interest
30. In order to further understand the use of the site for social interests and
wellbeing, a request for clarification has been made to Stebbing Parish Council
(the nominee) and three of the landowners, as follows:
Please clarify, by description and marking on the aerial view or Ordnance
Survey map (Appendix 3) the usage of different areas including:
 Which areas are used for what type of sports by the local community?
 Which areas are used for what type of recreation by the local community?
 Which areas are used by bird watchers?
 Which parts are used by the aviation community using the services of
Andrewsfield Aviation Limited?
 Which parts have general public access (not including the café)?
 Which parts are private agricultural land with no access?
Two site use plans have been submitted by Stebbing Parish Council (see
Appendix 4). No further clarification has been received from the land owners.
31. One of the owners has pointed out the plan includes two agricultural fields,
and this can be seen in the aerial view in Appendix 3. The parish council
highlight the different usage of the site on the two maps in Appendix 4
(submitted by the nominee). Members need to consider:
 The different usage of the site and whether all or certain activities further
the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community;
 And whether this use is primary or ancillary
32. Relationship to the Millibar Café: The nomination form acknowledges that
the Café is already listed as an AoCV, and although the airfield is not listed as
an AoCV it is stated to be an integral part of the site and intrinsically linked to
the café, and proposes that it should not be viewed as Ancillary. The Parish
Council support their nomination by stating that the:
‘The runway has a physical and functional relationship with the Club house
and Hangers, already protected by ACV. You cannot have one without the
other. The Airfield is also a visual amenity enjoyed by members and the
public when using the Club house Café, which enhances the experience’.
‘The use of the Airfield is not minor or infrequent in relationship to the café
and should be considered as non-ancillary. That is, they are clearly interdependent and complementary’.
8

Page 12

33. There has been case law which clarifies that visual amenity in itself does not
meet the criteria outlined in point 2 to qualify as an AoCV. Unless there is a
physical use of the site.
34. Although the café provides a valuable service as a social gathering place for
many local residents being licensed and has excellent catering facilities; in
determining whether the wider Airfield site should be listed as an AoCV,
members should exclude the contribution that the café/clubhouse makes to the
furthering the social wellbeing or interests of the community, as this is already
acknowledged in the listing of the café AOCV/18/61/001.
35. However, the track leading to the Club house Café and car park is the access
road to the facility, as indicated on the maps in Appendix 4. This suggests that
the track is used by the local community for recreation and access to the listed
Asset of Community Value.
36. A sports and recreation asset: The nomination form identifies the site as ‘a
sports and recreation asset to the district which is well established and a
vibrant economic one. The Airfield is a unique asset, unlike any other site in
the District’. The Parish Council claim that Andrewsfield ‘is a popular local
amenity not just for pilots, but families, cyclists, motorcycle clubs, walkers,
historic aircraft enthusiasts and as a tourist point for visitors to the area’.
In the 2017, Uttlesford Members were of the view that, on the basis of the
nomination, there was insufficient information for them to conclude that the
airfield and open space uses passed the test for listing.
The 2017 decision notice, BDC concluded that: ‘BDC is unable to conclude
that cyclists and walkers using the Site further the social interests of the local
community as it is not clear where this activity takes place or the frequency.
There is no public footpath which traverses the Site’.
No additional evidence was submitted as part of this nomination detailing the
number or frequency of families, cyclists, walkers using the airfield.
The usage maps in Appendix 4 and site photos in Appendix 5show that local
community recreation only takes place along the access track to the Café and
birdwatching on the perimeter of the private agricultural land (without public
access or clear footpath). There is insufficient evidence to suggest that
community recreation can be considered non-ancillary use of the track, the
primary use of which is access to the Clubhouse/Café.
37. A habitat for migrating birds: The Parish Council identify that the open
nature of the Airfield ‘provides a suitable habitat to act as an important staging
post for migrant birds where they feed before moving north in the spring. Three
species that are recorded annually on the Airfield are Yellow Wag tail,
Wheatear and Whinchat. The local bird watching community regularly watch
the site to record the numbers of birds that are not found on other habitats in

9

Page 13

the local area. One such species is Grey Partridge which are present in very
small numbers, often seen feeding on the edge of the Airfield’.
No further evidence was submitted detailing number or frequency of
birdwatchers using the site. Although the protection of wildlife sites is important,
this is not a consideration for furthering the social wellbeing or interests of the
local community.
38. The aviation community: In support of the nomination the Parish Council
identify that Andrewsfield Airfield has 387 club members, a Flying school and
has 60 resident aircraft.
‘Apart from the use by the local communities of Stebbing, the Salings ,
Rayne and Felsted the is also use and support of a much wider
catchment of a significant aviation community who use the airfield for
recreational purposes, including flying private aircraft, flight training and
meeting in the Club House Café. It is one of the few airfields that provide
training in Essex and the sub-region for both private and commercial
pilots. This is generally a declining activity due to the closure of many
private airfields’.
‘All flying to and from Andrewsfield is by ordinary members of both the
local and wider community. It is a non-commercial airfield’
In January 2018, UDC and BDC concluded that whilst it may be argued that
the facilities and pilot training/courses advance the sporting and recreational
interests of the individual users, it was considered that the airfield and the
associated commercial organisation did not further the social wellbeing or
social interests of the wider local community, as for example a local sports
team might.
No specific information has been provided, as part of this nomination,
regarding the number or frequency of use of the Airfield by members who live
or work locally, who may be regarded as the local community.

39. Community support undertaken by draft Neighbourhood Plans: The
Parish Council state that ‘Community consultation undertaken for the Draft
Neighbourhood Plans for both Stebbing and the Salings shows a resounding
support for Andrewsfield.
No material gathered as part of the community consultation or further
supporting evidence was provided as part of this nomination.
40. Historic interest: The Parish Council support the nomination by stating the
historic importance of the site. ‘This airfield not only formed a valuable part of
the first East Anglian USAAF initiative in World War II, but is of particular
importance and interest because it was the first of 14 airfields built by the
USAAF in the UK’. Letters and images are submitted in the Appendix of the
nomination.
10

Page 14

In January 2018 the WWII history of the Site was noted with interest, however,
UDC and BDC did not consider that enough evidence was given to show that
this furthers the cultural interests of the local community.
Furthering the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community
41. For an asset to be listed as being of community value, it is not enough that the
asset is of general value or utility. The asset has to further the social wellbeing
or social interests of the local community. It does not have to further the social
wellbeing or social interests of all members of the local community. Neither
does it have to be an exclusively local facility. But, before being able to accept
the nomination, members will need to identify one or more ways in which the
nominated land furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community.

e) Is it realistic to think that in the next 5 years the use of the building
could further the social wellbeing or interests of the community?
42. The nomination form explains that if listed as an Asset of Community Value,
Stebbing Parish Council would be prepared to work with neighbouring
parishes in applying for funding via a PWLB, appropriate grants, approaching
community shareholders or other sources to create:
 A centre dedicated to the ‘Special Relationship’ between UK and the USA
within this Unique setting’.
 ‘Work with local schools and other bodies to educate all ages in the history
of the East Anglian Airfields i.e. the living conditions of the airmen, the
pressure of war etc. via photographic displays, re-enactment, role play and
exhibitions’
 Develop a small museum on the site, built around the existing memorabilia
in the club house
43. The Parish Council would endeavour to continue the education and training of
existing and new pilot. They would work with the existing active Flying Club,
other parishes and interested groups to support enterprise and provide
stewardship. The site would become self-funding and be run by a
management team of volunteers, with appointed custodians. Stebbing Village
Hall and the Friends Meeting House are already managed in this manner and
run successfully.
Representations
44. One of the owners contacted UDC (1 May 2020) and pointed out the plan
includes two agricultural fields and misses out part of the actual Airfield. This
was brought to the awareness of Gt. Saling Parish Council in 2017/2018. The
owner planned to meet with a Parish Councillor and outline a more
representative plan, but failed to meet due to Covid-19. The owner suggested
that this Order is put on hold until a proper plan is mutually agreed.

11

Page 15

45. Stebbing Parish Council has been asked to confirm the accuracy of the plan
and to indicate which parts of the plan are agricultural fields and which parts
have access to the public. The PC have submitted the maps in Appendix 4.
46. Any representations received after publication of the report will be reported to
Members at the meeting.
Planning History
47. The site falls within an area of search for a new garden community at land
West of Braintree as identified in the Uttlesford Regulation 19 Pre-submission
Local Plan 2018. This Local Plan has now been withdrawn. The North Essex
Authorities Inspector post hearing letter (15 May 2020) also recommended that
the West of Braintree Garden community be removed as part of main
modifications of the joint Section One Local Plan.
Uttlesford District Council decisions on previous applications
48. On Wednesday 24 January 2018, UDC resolved not to list the airfield and café
as an ACV. The minutes are appended to this report. They include the
following:
The Chairman recommended that the nomination should be rejected but said
that it would be open to the parish council to submit a new application based on
the clubhouse use, identifying the extent of the clubhouse, along with land that
related to that community use; e.g. car parking. It would also be open to the
Parish Council to produce additional evidence in a further nomination regarding
community use of the airfield and community open space use. Members
concurred with this suggestion.
49. On 12 July 2018 both UDC and BDC accepted the nomination to list the
clubhouse, café, ancillary buildings and clubhouse adjoining the airfield land,
which are now listed as an AoCV.

Conclusion
50. This is a particularly complex application. This is a valid nomination made to
the Council, unless the land is considered to be ‘operational land’.
51. Members need to consider whether sufficient evidence has been provided to
show that EITHER there is an actual current use of the land, not an ancillary
use, which furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community OR there was a time in the recent past when an actual use of the
building or other land that was not an ancillary use furthered the social
wellbeing or social interests of the local community.
52. In January 2018, one of the reasons cited in the decision not to list the site as
an AoCV was:
12

Page 16

‘With regard to visitors and local community walking and cycling on the
open space. No other information was supplied about the use of the open
space. A large proportion of the Site is actually agricultural fields, however
BDC was unable to conclude that cyclists and walkers using the Site further
the social interests of the local community as it was not clear where this
activity takes place or the frequency. There is no public footpath which
traverses the Site’.
Members need to consider whether there is sufficient new evidence, submitted
as part of this nomination, to demonstrate point 52, above.
53. Members also need to consider whether:


In respect of a current use it is realistic to think that there can continue to be
non-ancillary use of the building or other land which will further (whether or
not in the same way) the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community; or



In respect of an historical use whether it is realistic to think that there is a
time in the next five years when there could be non-ancillary use of the
building or other land that would further (whether or not in the same way as
before) the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community.

54. Consideration of these issues will lead the Cabinet to determine whether the
wider site of Andrewsfield Airfield (including the runway) should be listed as an
asset of community value for a period of five years.
55. This decision needs to be shared with BDC in order to reach a mutual decision
by 23 June 2020.

Risk Analysis
56.
Risk

Likelihood

Impact

The nominating
body or the
owner is
unhappy with
the decision
reached.

High risk that
one of the
bodies will be
unhappy with
the decision.

The owner has rights
of internal review and
appeal and can claim
for compensation.

Mitigating actions

Carefully
scrutinise
submissions for
inclusion on the
The nominating body Asset List so as to
ensure only those
does not have rights
of review or appeal. A which comply with
the criteria are
new nomination can
included.
be made with
additional
information.
If it felt the Council
13

Page 17

had acted unlawfully,
it could seek to
challenge by way of
judicial review.
1 = Little or no risk or impact
2 = Some risk or impact – action may be necessary.
3 = Significant risk or impact – action required
4 = Near certainty of risk occurring, catastrophic effect or failure of project.

14

Page 18

Appendix 1: Nomination Form

15

Page 19

16

Page 20

Additional information submitted 22 May 2020


Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing has a unique place in Uttlesford’s history, it is the only
surviving Second World War airfield still in operation. At its height in 1942/43 over 800
US Airfield were stationed around the airfield and it was the home of the iconic Flying
Fortress US bombers. Later in the war it housed both RAF and Polish air squadrons.
It’s loss would be a major blow to the 20th century history of the region and the
important part these airfields played in first the defence of Britain and later the defeat
of Nazi Germany. It is of particular significance this year being the 75th anniversary of
VE Day. The historical significance of the airfield has been somewhat overlooked in
recent years, however, local parish councils are determined to reverse this and build
on the current facilities to create a site of interest to local schools, aircraft enthusiast,
WW2 veterans and their families and weekend visitors. More details of this are
covered under question Q5b.

17

Page 21

18

Page 22

Appendix 2: Site boundary plan

19

Page 23

Appendix 3: Aerial view and Ordnance Survey map of the site area

Aerial view [source Google maps]

(c) Crown Copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100022861.
20

Page 24

Appendix 4: Site use maps submitted by Stebbing Parish Council (7 May 2020)
Map 1

Map 2

21

Page 25

Appendix 5: Site photos
Taken 31 My 2020 by Joanna Hill, Planning Policy Officer

1. Side of the road heading to Betts Farm

2. Corner of road by entrance track

3. View up the track leading to Clubhouse

4. Agricultural land adjacent to track
22

Page 26

5. View up the runway

6. View across field to runway, cyclists on road

7. Signs at entrance

8. Visitors welcome crossed because of
Covid-19 and a locked gate at the end of
the track

23

Page 27

ASSETS OF COMMUNITY VALUE COMMITTEE held in the COUNCIL
CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, LONDON ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN,
CB11 4ER, on WEDNESDAY, 24 JANUARY 2018 at 10.00 am

ACV5

Present:

Councillor S Barker (Chairman)
Councillors V Ranger and H Rolfe

Officers in
attendance:

B Ferguson (Democratic Services Officer) and S Pugh (Head of
Legal Services)

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) HELD ON THE 7 AUGUST AND 14
DECEMBER 2017
The minutes of the previous meetings held on the 7 August and 14 December
2017 were approved as a correct record.

ACV6

NOMINATION OF ANDREWSFIELD AIRFIELD, STEBBING AND GREAT
SALING AS AN ASSET OF COMMUNITY VALUE
The Head of Legal Services explained the concept of an Asset of Community
Value, as defined by the Localism Act 2011. He said the application was
complex and identified three uses of the Airfield as set out in the nomination
application:




Airfield
Clubhouse (or “Milibar”); and
Open Space

The Head of Legal Services asked Members to consider:


Whether an actual current use of the nominated land and
buildings that is not an ancillary use furthers the social
wellbeing or social interests of the local community, and



Whether it is realistic to think that there can continue to be
non-ancillary use of the building or other land which will
further (whether or not in the same way) the social wellbeing
or social interests of the local community.

Members asked whether the land was excluded from listing as “operational
land”. The Head of Legal Services said that “operational land” had a technical
meaning and, in this context, meant an airport licensed under Part V of the
Airports Act 1986. He understood that the airfield held a licence under Part III of
the Act but that this did not bring the land within the definition of “operational”.
The Chairman said she had concluded from the evidence presented that the
clubhouse use met the test for an asset of community value, as it was open to

Page 28

the community in its own right and hosted community meetings and events. This
was a significant use in its own right and was not subsidiary to another major
use.
Members were of the view that, on the basis of the nomination, there was
insufficient information for them to conclude that the airfield and open space
uses passed the test for listing.
Members were also of the view that the clubhouse use met the second limb of
the test. The clubhouse was a going concern and it was realistic to think that it
could continue to be used in a similar manner in future. Members discussed the
planning position regarding the site and, given the early stage which the local
plan process had reached, did not believe that this made continuing use
unrealistic.
Members were mindful that the clubhouse use related only to a part of the
nominated land, which included the whole of the airfield. The community
clubhouse use did not relate to the wider airfield and members considered
whether it was appropriate to list the whole of the land nominated.
The Head of Legal Services advised that the legal position was uncertain. There
was limited authority to suggest that it might be possible to list a wider parcel of
land even if use of only part of it furthered the social wellbeing or social interests
of the local community. He referred to a decision of the First Tier Tribunal. (Uptin
House -v- Newcastle City Council.)
Members concluded that the circumstances in that case, which related to a
single building in multiple use, differed from the current nomination, given the
lack of relationship between the community clubhouse use and the airfield.
The report to members advised that, if members were unclear as to the extent of
the land which should be listed, they could reject the nomination and invite the
nominating body to submit a further application accompanied by a plan showing
the clubhouse and land (e.g. parking) that related to the community use.
Members reviewed carefully the representations made on behalf of the owners
and operators of the land and were advised on their merits by the Head of Legal
Services. In particular, he advised that the private ownership of the land did not
preclude listing – it was in the nature of the statutory scheme that land and
buildings in private ownership would qualify for listing. It was also not open to
members to consider the relative merits of current use of the land and potential
future uses.
The Chairman recommended that the nomination should be rejected but said
that it would be open to the parish council to submit a new application based on
the clubhouse use, identifying the extent of the clubhouse, along with land that
related to that community use; e.g. car parking. It would also be open to the
Parish Council to produce additional evidence in a further nomination regarding
community use of the airfield and community open space use. Members
concurred with this suggestion.

Page 29

RESOLVED: to reject the nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield to be listed as an
Asset of Community Value.
The meeting ended at 10.30am.

Page 30

Decision Notice
Site:

Andrewsfield Airfield, Saling Airfield, Stebbing, Great Dunmow CM6 3TH shown
edged red on the attached plan

Applicant:

Great Saling Parish Council

Owner:

Part of the Site is owned by Eric William Bucknell; part of the Site is owned by
Robert William Bucknell and John Richard Bucknell; and part of the Site is owned
by the Estate of John Alan Harvey

Background
On 7 December 2017 Braintree District Council (“BDC”) received a nomination to include the Site
in its List of Assets of Community Value. This nomination was made by the Applicant.
The majority of the Site falls within the Uttlesford district and accordingly, the nomination was
also submitted to Uttlesford District Council. The attached plan shows the district boundary as a
thick black line. Section 102 of the Localism Act 2011 (the “Act”) provides that if different parts of
the nominated land are in different local authority areas, the local authorities concerned must
cooperate with each other in carrying out the functions under the Assets of Community Value
Chapter in the Act in relation to that land or any part of it.
Uttlesford District Council, by a decision of its Cabinet’s Asset of Community Value SubCommittee on 24 January 2018, has decided not to include the Site in its List of Assets of
Community Value.
The Nomination
The Applicant is entitled to make a nomination to list an asset on BDC’s List of Assets of
Community Value as parish councils are a “voluntary or community body” for the purposes of
s89(2)(b)(i) of the Act.
The nomination was a valid community nomination as it contained a description of the nominated
land including its proposed boundaries, it included information as to the names of the occupants
and the name and address of the owner together with reasons why the applicant believed that
the site should be listed as an asset of community value.
Reasons for nomination
The Applicant’s reasons for nominating the Site as an asset of community value are as follows:“Resident of Great Saling use the facilities at the airfield ie the pub and the café as a social place
to meet as Great Saling doesn’t have a public house anymore. The Salings and surrounding
area sees a lot of cycling and bike tours and the airfield is often a welcome stop off point for
these visitors.
Andrewsfield is a very popular and valuable local community amenity and Open space. It is very
well used by the local residents, as well as attracting visitors from far and wide. It is used by

HJS / COR1-002773 / 095360

Page 31

Page 1

walkers and cyclists, as well as by pilots who come from all around the country to fly over our
attractive North Essex countryside. The bar at Andrewsfield is not only a popular local meeting
place, esp for residents of Great Saling and Bardfield Saling who have no pub or bar in their
villages, but also a meeting place for rambling and cycling groups. The airfield itself is well used
by pilots from local towns and villages and is CAA Licensed for both Private and Commercial
pilot training. It is in a category of airfield which accounts for ONLY 10% of all active airports in
the UK. Andrewsfield is not only a leisure airport but plays a vital role in commercial pilot
training, revalidation/licence renewal and forms a vital link in the network of small training fields in
the UK. There is already a shortage of pilots in what is a rapidly expanding industry. It cannot
make any sense to close down an important pilot training centre which is a source of local
employment and is additive to the overall UK economy.
Andrewsfield has a major place in WWII aviation history, being the first “Type A” USAF airbase
built during WWII. When the USAF vacated the base, the RAF took it back and it remained an
active airforce base until the end of WWII. Andrewsfield is an unscheduled monument to WWII,
with people still making the pilgrimage to visit it, even from the US. Andrewsfield was named in
honour of US Lt. Gen. Frank Andrews who was killed in action in 1943 – he was due to succeed
Gen Eisenhower but was killed before that could happen. After the closure of Andrewsfield in
Essex at the end of WWII, an Air Force base named Pyles Field at Camp Springs, Maryland,
near Washington, DC was renamed in honour of Lt Gen Andrews. This is the airfield where
Airforce One, the US President’s plane, is stationed.
Andrewsfield is also part of the UK Met Office weather station network.
We feel that Andrewsfield has a very high value to the community since it is a very special and
important place – both for the local community and for the families of those who fought in WWII”.
Future use/acquisition:
“The residents of the village would look into purchasing the land and buildings etc
And carry on using the airfield as it is”
Other party submissions
The following representations have been received on behalf of the Harvey family, Havair Limited
a lessee of part of Site and Iconshield Limited a Special Purpose Vehicle which holds an option
over part of the Site:
1. “The actual current use does not, in our view, further the social wellbeing and interests of
the local community. While no doubt the café/bar is used by some members of the local
community, we believe rambling groups, cycling groups and particularly private pilots are
by no means comprised of people who could be described as being from the ‘local
community’. Furthermore, flying cannot be described as a community activity, and is very
much more individual and exclusive in nature, as opposed to say a local sports team.
2. Even if the café/bar is used by some local people, this does not justify designating the
wider area indicated on the red-line plan attached to the application. This is private land
and there is no entitlement for the public to use it.
3. Pilot training again cannot be considered in the interests of the local community. We
accept that while there may be World War II history attached to the airfield, this can be
recognised in other ways and the designation as an ACV is not an appropriate means for
doing this. That would be a misuse of the provisions of the Localism Act. It cannot be
argued that historical association furthers the wellbeing of the local community.

HJS / COR1-002773 / 095360

Page 32

Page 2

4. Andrewsfield forms part of the strategic site for the proposed West of Braintree Garden
Community. This proposal is one of the principal means of achieving delivery of new
homes in both the Braintree and Uttlesford Local Plans. Two of the principles of Garden
Cities are:
‘A strong local jobs offer in the Garden City itself, with a variety of employment
opportunities within an easy commuting distance of homes’
And
‘ Generous green space linked to the wider natural environment, including a mix of public
and private networks of well-managed high quality gardens, tree-lined streets and open
spaces.’
Using pilot training as an example of an employment opportunity is insignificant compared
to the scale of employment the new garden community will create. The wide range of
properly designed open spaces for community use in the garden community will far
outweigh any unofficial recreational use of Andrewsfield that is carried out at present.
5. The identification of Andrewsfield as a source of employment and open space that
benefits the local community to the extent it should be recognised and protected is
misdirected. The development of the new garden community will secure a far greater
quantity and quality of both. Furthermore, it will create opportunities for commemorating
the area’s WWII heritage through appropriate memorials, public art, all of which can be
designed with the input of the local community.
6. The new community will include several local centres, some or all of which can include
cafes/bars that can provide enjoyment for not only the existing but the new community.
These will genuinely be an asset for many rather than the present few with limited local
community connections.
7. It is thus our view that the ACV application is opportunist and its approval would not meet
the tests set in the Localism Act for such a proposal to be granted. We believe there is
only very limited local community benefit from the site at present. In contrast the new
West of Braintree Garden Community will be a widespread source of community wellbeing; indeed it will be designed with contributions from the local community. The Plan
will be ‘locally led’ and its success should not be undermined by any uncertainty created
by the approval of the ACV application”.
The Statutory Criteria (s88(1) and (2) of the Act)
BDC is obliged to consider the following questions:Part 1
1. Is there an actual current use of the building or land that is not an ancillary use which
furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community?; and
2. Is it realistic to think that the current non ancillary use of the building/land can continue
(whether or not in the same way)?
If BDC considers that the answer to both of these questions is ‘yes’ then BDC must include the
building/land in its List of Assets of Community Value.

HJS / COR1-002773 / 095360

Page 33

Page 3

If either of the answers is no, then the nomination will be unsuccessful UNLESS BDC considers
that the answer to both of the following questions is ‘yes’:Part 2
1. Has there been a time in the recent past when an actual use of the building or land that
was not an ancillary use furthered the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community?; and
2. Is it realistic to think that there will be a time in the next five years when there could be a
non-ancillary use of the building/land that would further the social wellbeing or social
interests of the local community (whether or not in the same way)?
Application to the facts
The Site is part situated in the Braintree district and part situated in the Uttlesford district. Whilst
BDC can only list land in its own area, BDC will assess the whole of the Site.
BDC has considered whether the Site is ‘operational land’ as defined in section 263 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 which would be excluded from listing. In this context, an airport
licensed under Part V of the Airports Act 1986 would be ‘operational land’. As far as BDC is
aware, the airfield does not hold a licence under part V of the Airports Act 1986 and accordingly
would not be classed as ‘operational land’ for these purposes.
‘Current use’ of the Site – the nomination identifies four uses of the Site:a.
b.
c.
d.

airfield;
café/bar - Andrewsfield Milibar;
weather station; and
open space.

It also appears that a substantial part of the Site is agricultural land.
‘Which furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community’ – taking the above
uses:
a. the Applicant’s comments about the use of the airfield have been considered. Whilst it
may be argued that the facilities and pilot training/courses advance the sporting and
recreational interests of the individual users, in BDC’s opinion the airfield and the
associated commercial organisation does not further the social wellbeing or social
interests of the wider local community, as for example a local sports team might. The
benefits that the Applicant states relating to the economy and employment are not
relevant to the tests which BDC has to take into account. The WWII history of the Site is
noted with interest but BDC does not consider that enough evidence has been given to
show that this furthers the cultural interests of the local community;
b. the use of the café/bar by pilots and other users of the airfield and cyclists/bikers having a
‘pit stop’ does not, in BDC’s view, meet the test. However, based on the information
supplied, the café/bar is also open to and used by members of the local community. BDC
is satisfied that this use could further the social interests and wellbeing of the local
community although there is limited information supplied about the level to which this
occurs as against the use which relates to the airfield;
c. not enough information has been supplied for BDC to be able to conclude that the
weather station furthers the social interests or social wellbeing of the local community;
and

HJS / COR1-002773 / 095360

Page 34

Page 4

d. the Applicant refers to visitors and the local community walking and cycling on the open
space which forms part of the Site. No other information is supplied about the use of the
open space. It appears to BDC that a large proportion of the Site is actually agricultural
fields. BDC is unable to conclude that cyclists and walkers using the Site further the
social interests of the local community as it is not clear where this activity takes place or
the frequency. There is no public footpath which traverses the Site.
‘not an ancillary use’ – whilst the café/bar use discussed at point b. above furthers the social
interests of the local community, in BDC’s opinion, this use is ancillary to the airfield use. The
café/bar forms part of the commercial airfield/aviation provision. But for the use of the Site as a
commercial airfield, BDC is not persuaded that the café/bar would be available for use by the
local community. In BDC’s opinion, the café/bar is ancillary to the main use of the Site as an
airfield.
In view of the above, it appears to BDC that the primary use of the Site is an airfield. It is
accepted that the use of the café/bar has capacity to further the social interests of the local
community but BDC considers this to be ancillary to the main use as an airfield. Accordingly,
BDC finds that the first stage of Part 1 of the statutory test is not met and there is no need to
consider the second stage regarding future use. No evidence has been provided to show that the
use of the Site “in the recent past” differs and accordingly, Part 2 of the test also fails.
Whilst BDC has assessed the whole of the Site, it is noted that the café/bar falls solely within the
Uttlesford district and this adds weight to BDC’s decision regarding the portion of the Site it could
consider listing within its area.
Decision
Braintree District Council is of the opinion that the Site is not land of community value for the
reasons stated above. The Site shall be included in BDC’s List of Land Nominated by
Unsuccessful Community Nominations.

Braintree District Council
29 January 2018

HJS / COR1-002773 / 095360

Page 35

Page 5

[PLEASE ‘SAVE AS’ BEFORE AMENDING THIS TEMPLATE]
[Attach as a front sheet to final version of committee report before submitting to
Democratic Services]

CABINET REPORT CHECKLIST
Committee:

Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee

Date of meeting:

24 January 2018

Title:

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and
Great Saling as an asset of community value

Lead Officer:

Impact:

Approved by:
[Click here to enter Name of Approver]

Financial

Date and time of email:
[CFO/CFO’s nominee]

[Click here to enter Name of Approver]
Legal

Date and time of email:
[ACE/ACE’s nominee]

[Click here to enter Name of Approver]
Service
[Lead Officer / Service Director / HoD]

PART 2 REPORTS
All of the exemptions are subject to a qualification in that they can only be used if the
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing
the information
Explanation of how the
public interest test is satisfied

Approved by:

The proposed allocation of the Strategic
Initiatives Fund makes sums available for
(Legal)

(Report Author)

Page 36

Committee:

Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee

Date:

Title:

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing
and Great Saling as an asset of community
value

24 January 2018

Portfolio
Holder:

Cllr Susan Barker

Report
Author

Interim head of Legal Services

Key decision: No

Summary
1. The Localism Act 2011 introduces a concept of an ‘Asset of Community Value’.
Section 87 of the Localism Act places a duty of Local Authorities to ‘maintain a list
of land in its area that is land of community value’.
2. An Asset is of community value if (in the opinion of the local authority) either:


an actual current use of the building or other land that is not an ancillary use
furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community, and



it is realistic to think that there can continue to be non-ancillary use of the
building or other land which will further (whether or not in the same way) the
social wellbeing or social interests of the local community.

or


there is a time in the recent past when an actual use of the building or other
land that was not an ancillary use furthered the social wellbeing or social
interests of the local community, and



it is realistic to think that there is a time in the next five years when there could
be non-ancillary use of the building or other land that would further (whether or
not in the same way as before) the social wellbeing or social interests of the
local community.

3. The Act states that “social interest” “includes (in particular) each of the following –
(a) cultural interest, (b) recreation interest and (c) sporting interests.
4. Assets of community value are buildings or land which involve the physical use by
the community and include for example a village shop, pub, community centre,
allotment or recreation ground.
5. If a valid nomination is submitted and the land or buildings meet the criteria set
out in paragraph 2, the land/buildings must be included in the list of assets of
community value. If the answer to any question is “no”, the land/buildings cannot
be listed as an asset of community value.

Page 37

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

Recommendations
6. That members determine whether to list Andrewsfield Airfield as an asset of
community value.
Financial Implications
7. There are direct financial implications arising at this stage which relate to the
formal process of identifying and contacting asset owners and, if relevant,
registering an asset as a Land Charge. These costs can be met from existing
budget and staff resources.
8. There is also an unquantifiable financial risk to the Council, if there was a claim for
compensation. This needs to be kept under review and at an appropriate time
consideration should be given to establishing a contingency reserve to mitigate
the risk to the Council’s budget. However, the potential liability should not be
taken into account in deciding whether or not this is an asset of community value.

Background Papers
9. There are no background papers. The Parish Council’s nomination is attached
to this report.

Impact
10.
Communication/Consultation

In line with paragraph 8 of The Assets of
Community Value (England) Regulations
2012 the Council have taken all practicable
steps to give information that it is
considering listing the land to the owner of
the land, freeholder and occupant. This has
taken the form of letters.

Community Safety

No impact.

Equalities

No impact.

Health and Safety

No impact.

Human Rights/Legal
Implications

Pursuant to s.19 Human Rights Act 1998
the Secretary of State has certified that in
his opinion the Localism Act is compatible
with the Convention rights.

Sustainability

No direct or relevant impact.

Ward-specific impacts

Felsted and Stebbing

Author:
Version date:

Page 38

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

Workforce/Workplace

No impact

Situation
This is a complex application. The key issues which members need to consider are
set out below. :

a. Is this a valid nomination?
11. Nomination for listing as an asset of community value may only be made by a
parish council or by a qualifying community body. In both cases, the nominating
body must have a local connection.
12. The nomination has been made by the Great Saling Parish Council to both
Braintree District Council and Uttlesford District Council. The premises are
located within the parishes of Great Saling, Braintree District and Stebbing Parish,
Uttlesford District.
13. A parish council has a local connection with land in another parish council’s area if
any part of the boundary of the first council’s area is also part of the boundary of
the other council’s area. (Assets of Community Value (England) Regulations 2012
regulation 4(2)(a)
14. Section 102 of the Localism Act 2011 states that if different parts of any land are
in different local authority areas, the local authorities concerned must cooperate
with each other in carrying out functions under this Chapter in relation to any land
or any part of it. There is no guidance on the form co-operation should take or on
what happens if two authorities reach different conclusions.
15. Braintree District Council are determining the nomination in accordance with their
agreed practice. The decision is intended to be made by an officer panel on 29
January.
16. A valid nomination must also include:


A description of the nominated land including its proposed boundaries.



Any information the nominator has about the freeholders, leaseholders and
current occupants of the site.



The reasons for nominating the asset, explaining why the nominator believes
the asset meets the definition in the Act.

The nomination submitted by the Parish Council includes this information.
17. The nomination is therefore valid and the Council is under a duty to decide
whether or not it qualifies to be listed.
b. Is the land “operational”?
Author:
Version date:

Page 39

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

18. The Assets of Community Value Regulations 2012 prohibit the Council from
listing “operational land” as defined in section 263, Town and Country Planning
Act, 1990. The definition in the 1990 Act cross-refers to other legislation and it is
not wholly clear whether this is operational land. On the basis of available
information, the officer view is that it is not operational land. No representations
have been received from the owners to this effect. If it emerges that this is
operational land, it cannot be listed.
c. Is there an actual current use of the building/land, not an ancillary use,
which furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community OR Is there a time in the recent past when an actual use of the
building or other land that was not an ancillary use furthered the social
wellbeing or social interests of the local community?
19. The site is currently operational as a licensed airfield. According to the website
(http://andrewsfield.com/about-andrewsfield/) a wide range of flying courses are
offered. Hangarage is sometimes available; aircraft parking is available. There is
a clubhouse with licensed bar and restaurant, fully equipped briefing rooms, pilot
shop and offices. The club is open 7 days a week from 9:00am during the
summer and from 8:30am during the winter.
20. The parish council support their nomination by stating that Resident of Great
Saling use the facilities at the airfield ie the pub and the café as a social place to
meet as Great Saling doesn’t have a public house anymore. The Salings and
surrounding area sees a lot of cycling and bike tours and the airfield is often a
welcome stop off point for these visitors.
Andrewsfield is a very popular and valuable local community amenity and Open
space. It is very well used by the local residents, as well as attracting visitors from
far and wide. It is used by walkers and cyclists, as well as by pilots who come
from all around the country to fly over our attractive North Essex countryside. The
bar at Andrewsfield is not only a popular local meeting place, esp for residents of
Great Saling and Bardfield Saling who have no pub or bar in their villages, but
also a meeting place for rambling and cycling groups. The airfield itself is well
used by pilots from local towns and villages and is CAA Licensed for both Private
and Commercial pilot training. It is in a category of airfield which accounts for
ONLY 10% of all active airports in the UK. Andrewsfield is not only a leisure
airport but plays a vital role in commercial pilot training, revalidation/licence
renewal and forms a vital link in the network of small training fields in the UK.
There is already a shortage of pilots in what is a rapidly expanding industry. It
cannot make any sense to close down an important pilot training centre which is a
source of local employment and is additive to the overall UK economy.
Andrewsfield has a major place in WWII aviation history, being the first “Type A”
USAF airbase built during WWII. When the USAF vacated the base, the RAF took
it back and it remained an active airforce base until the end of WWII. Andrewsfield
is an unscheduled monument to WWII, with people still making the pilgrimage to
visit it, even from the US. Andrewsfield was named in honour of US Lt. Gen.
Frank Andrews who was killed in action in 1943 – he was due to succeed Gen
Eisenhower but was killed before that could happen. After the closure of
Andrewsfield in Essex at the end of WWII, an Air Force base named Pyles Field
Author:
Version date:

Page 40

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

at Camp Springs, Maryland, near Washington, DC was renamed in honour of Lt
Gen Andrews. This is the airfield where Airforce One, the US President’s plane, is
stationed.
Andrewsfield is also part of the UK Met Office weather station network.
We feel that Andrewsfield has a very high value to the community since it is a very
special and important place – both for the local community and for the families of
those who fought in WWII.
21. The nomination identifies three separate uses:




Airfield;
Open Space; and
Clubhouse

22.

As mentioned, the Committee needs to be satisfied that there is an actual
current use of the nominated land/buildings (a) that is not an ancillary use and (b)
that furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community.

23.

In determining whether a use is ancillary, it is necessary to look at the overall
picture to ascertain whether the community use is a significant use in its own right
in the context of the particular property and not subsidiary to another major use.
All the circumstances will need to be looked at including the history of the building
and the nature of the connection with the local community.

24.

In determining whether use of land furthers the social wellbeing or social
interests of the local community, members can take a broad view but there needs
to be some sort of social benefit to the community. The legislation defines "social
interests" to include cultural interests, recreational interests and sporting interests,
which could typically include ACVs of the following type:







A community building, such as a village hall.
A building or land of local historical value.
A public house.
A sports ground.
A local park.
A playing field.

This is not, however, an exclusive list and other uses may qualify.
Airfield use
25. Is the airfield use ancillary? It is a significant use in its own right and is not
subsidiary to another major use. It is not an ancillary use.
26. Does the airfield use further the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community? The nomination sets out the reasons why the Parish Council believe
that the airfield use furthers the social wellbeing and/or social interests of the local
community. Members need to take care to distinguish elements in the submission
that relate to the statutory criteria and those that do not. Only uses relevant to the
Author:
Version date:

Page 41

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

local community should be considered. Visitor usage or historic interest will not, of
itself, justify nomination as an asset of community value. There needs to be a link
with the social wellbeing and/or social interests of the local community.
Open space use
27. There is very little detail in the nomination about the open space use. It states:
Andrewsfield is a very popular and valuable local community amenity and Open
space. It is very well used by the local residents, as well as attracting visitors from
far and wide. It is used by walkers and cyclists, as well as by pilots who come
from all around the country to fly over our attractive North Essex countryside.
28. Without more information it is difficult to determine whether this is a significant use
in its own right or whether it is ancillary to the main airfield use. Members need to
be satisfied that the use is not ancillary before a nomination based on open space
use can be accepted.
29. Does the open space use further the social wellbeing or social interests of the
local community? If it is well used for this purpose by the local community and is
not an ancillary use, then it could well meet this test.
Clubhouse use
30. The nomination states:
Resident of Great Saling use the facilities at the airfield ie the pub and the café as
a social place to meet as Great Saling doesn’t have a public house anymore….
The bar at Andrewsfield is not only a popular local meeting place, esp for
residents of Great Saling and Bardfield Saling who have no pub or bar in their
villages, but also a meeting place for rambling and cycling groups.
31. Is the clubhouse use ancillary? If the clubhouse served only those using the
airfield for aviation purposes, it might be seen as ancillary. However, the
nomination supports a view that it is a main use in its own right. The website for
the clubhouse states:
Andrewsfield Millibar serves great home cooked food every day, Open
8:30am – 9pm. Breakfast is served until 12, Lunch until 3pm.
With a range of options for Breakfast, Snacks, Main meals, Desserts, Drinks or
even a roast dinner, kick back and enjoy the view.
The Millibar is able to cater to groups or special events and regularly plays
host to local gatherings and club activities.
No matter the time of year, the Millibar makes for an excellent fuel-stop for
budding pilots, enthusiasts or those just passing through.
We always do our best to accommodate special requests – just get in touch!
For group bookings, requests or to book in advance please phone Peter on
07923 981900.
Author:
Version date:

Page 42

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

This strongly suggests that the clubhouse (or “Millibar”) is a significant use in its
own right, akin to a local pub.
32. Does the clubhouse use further the social wellbeing or social interests of the local
community? Local pubs typically meet this test. The website indicates that it fulfils
a social function. The nomination states that it is the only local facility of this
nature and is well used. This suggests that the clubhouse use meets the test.
d. Is it realistic to think that there can continue to be non-ancillary use of the
building or other land that would further (whether or not in the same way as
before) the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community.
33. If Panel members conclude that the land nominated meets the tests set out
above, it can only accept the nomination if it decides that it is realistic to think that
a non-ancillary use of the site and buildings could continue to further the social
wellbeing or interests of the community. In this context, “realistic” means “more
than fanciful”.
34.

The parish council state in their nomination form that the residents of the
village would look to purchasing the land and buildings and carry on using the
airfield as it is.

35. There is also no evidence to suggest that it is not realistic to think that the use
could continue for the foreseeable future. There are planning issues potentially
affecting the site. But the planning position is not sufficiently clear to allow
members to conclude that it is not realistic to think that the use will continue.
e. What happens if members conclude that the clubhouse use qualifies for
ACV listing but that the airfield and/or open space use does not?
36. If members conclude that the clubhouse is an asset of community value, they
need to consider whether all of the land identified in the nomination should be
listed. The nomination includes the airfield. If the listing is made only on the basis
of the clubhouse use, members should only list the building and land with which it
has a functional and physical relationship. If members conclude that there is not a
functional and physical relationship between the clubhouse and all of the land
nominated, but are unclear as to the extent of the land which should be included
in the listing, an option would be to reject the application to and invite the Parish
Council to resubmit, based on the clubhouse use, with a revised plan.
Representations
37. No representations have been received to date. However, Braintree DC initially
received this nomination and has taken the lead on contacting owners. Under
Braintree’s procedure, representations from owners are not called for at this
stage. Owners have a statutory right to ask for a review of a decision to list an
ACV. At this stage they can make representations and can request an oral
hearing.

Author:
Version date:

Page 43

Nomination of Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing and Great Saling as an asset of community value
Assets of Community Value Sub-Committee [Click here to type item number]

Conclusions
38. This is a particularly complex application. Members need to consider the issues
raised in this report and to reach a conclusion at the meeting. Officers will be in
attendance
Risk Analysis
39.
Risk

Likelihood

Impact

Mitigating actions

The nominating
body or the owner
is unhappy with
the decision
reached.

High risk that
one of the
bodies will be
unhappy with
the decision.

The owner
has rights of
internal review
and appeal
and can claim
for
compensation.

Carefully scrutinise
submissions for
inclusion on the Asset
List so as to ensure
only those which
comply with the
criteria are included.

The
nominating
body does not
have rights of
review or
appeal. If it felt
the Council
had acted
unlawfully, it
could seek to
challenge by
way of judicial
review.
1 = Little or no risk or impact
2 = Some risk or impact – action may be necessary.
3 = Significant risk or impact – action required
4 = Near certainty of risk occurring, catastrophic effect or failure of project.

Author:
Version date:

Page 44

Committee:

Cabinet

Date:

Title:

Nomination of the Clubhouse, Millibar Cafe,
ancillary buildings and carpark, Andrewsfield
Airfield as an Asset of Community Value

Portfolio
Holder:

Councillor Susan Barker,

Report
Author:

Sarah Nicholas, Senior Planning Officer

Key decision:

snicholas@uttlesford.gov.uk

No

Thursday, 12 July
2018

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services

Summary
1. The Localism Act 2011 introduces a concept of an ‘Asset of Community
Value’. Section 87 of the Localism Act places a duty of Local Authorities to
‘maintain a list of land in its area that is land of community value’.
2. An Asset is of community value if (in the opinion of the local authority) either:


an actual current use of the building or other land that is not an ancillary
use furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community,
and



it is realistic to think that there can continue to be non-ancillary use of the
building or other land which will further (whether or not in the same way)
the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community.



there is a time in the recent past when an actual use of the building or other
land that was not an ancillary use furthered the social wellbeing or interests
of the local community, and



it is realistic to think that there is a time in the next five years when there
could be non-ancillary use of the building or other land that would further
(whether or not in the same way as before) the social wellbeing or social
interests of the local community.

or

3. The Act states that “social interest” “includes (in particular) each of the
following – (a) cultural interest, (b) recreation interest and (c) sporting
interests.
4. Assets of community value are buildings or land which involve the physical use
by the community and include for example a village shop, pub, community
centre, allotment or recreation ground.
5. The purpose of this report is to enable members to determine:

Page 45

a) Whether there is a valid nomination;
b) Whether the use of the building (current or recent past) furthers the social
welling or interests of the community;
c) Whether it is realistic to think that in the next 5 years the building could be
used to further the social wellbeing or interests of the community.
d) In considering these questions, members need to consider principal, rather
than ancillary, uses of the building.
e) If members conclude that the answers to these questions are “yes”, the
building should be included in the list of assets of community value.
Recommendations
6. Recommended for Listing: On the basis that there is a valid nomination and
the current use of, or there is a time in the recent past when, the clubhouse,
café, ancillary buildings and car park furthered the interests of the community,
and it is realistic to think that in the next 5 years the building could further the
interest of the community, officers would recommend that the site be listed as
an Asset of Community Value
7. The nomination form in full and maps can be viewed on the website under
currently nominated assets.
Financial Implications
8. There are direct financial implications arising at this stage which relate to the
formal process of identifying and contacting asset owners and, if relevant,
registering an asset as a Land Charge. These costs can be met from existing
budget and staff resources.
9. There is also an unquantifiable financial risk to the Council, if there was a
claim for compensation. This needs to be kept under review and at an
appropriate time consideration should be given to establishing a contingency
reserve to mitigate the risk to the Council’s budget. However, the potential
liability should not be taken into account in deciding whether or not this is an
asset of community value.
Background Papers
10. The following papers were referred to by the author in the preparation of this
report and are available for inspection from the author of the report.
11. The submission for consideration as Assets of Community Value and any
representations available on the website at currently nominated assets
Impact
12.

Page 46

Communication/Consultation

In line with paragraph 8 of The Assets of
Community Value (England) Regulations
2012 the Council have taken all practicable
steps to give information that it is
considering listing the land to the owner of
the land, freeholder and occupant. This has
taken the form of letters.

Community Safety

No impact.

Equalities

The duty will affect all equally.

Health and Safety

No impact.

Human Rights/Legal
Implications

Pursuant to s.19 Human Rights Act 1998
the Secretary of State has certified that in
his opinion the Localism Act is compatible
with the Convention rights.

Sustainability

If the land is included on the list of
Community Assets it will form a Land
Charge.

Ward-specific impacts

Felsted and Stebbing

Workforce/Workplace

No impact

Situation
a) Is this a valid nomination
13. S89 of the Act states that land in a local authority area which is of community
value may be included in its list of assets of community value only in response
to a “community nomination”, or where permitted by regulation made by the
Secretary of State. A community nomination means a nomination by a parish
council in respect of land in the parish council’s area or “by a person that is a
voluntary or community body with a local connection”.
14. The nomination has been made by Stebbing Parish Council to both Uttlesford
District Council and Braintree District Council. The premises are located within
the parishes of Great Saling, Braintree District and Stebbing Parish, Uttlesford
District.
15. A parish council has a local connection with land in another parish council’s
area if any part of the boundary of the first council’s area is also part of the
boundary of the other council’s area. (Assets of Community Value (England)
Regulations 2012 regulation 4(2)(a)
16. Section 102 of the Localism Act 2011 states that if different parts of any land
are in different local authority areas, the local authorities concerned must
cooperate with each other in carrying out functions under this Chapter in
relation to any land or any part of it. There is no guidance on the form co-

Page 47

operation should take or on what happens if two authorities reach different
conclusions.
17. Braintree District Council is determining the nomination in accordance with
their agreed practice.
18. A nomination must also include:
i.

A description of the nominated land including its proposed boundaries.

ii.

Any information the nominator has about the freeholders, leaseholders
and current occupants of the site.

iii.

The reasons for nominating the asset, explaining why the nominator
believes the asset meets the definition in the Act.

iv.

The nominator’s eligibility to make the nomination.

19. If it meets these requirements it is a valid nomination under S89(2)(i). The
nomination being considered is validly made.
b) Does the use of the building (current or recent past) further the social
wellbeing or interests of the community?
20. The nomination form sets out how it is considered that the Inn furthers the
social wellbeing or interests of the community.
21. Recreational and Tourism Asset: It states that it is a popular local amenity not
just for pilots but cyclists, motorcycle clubs walkers and historic aircraft
enthusiasts and as a tourist point for visitors to the area. A large community of
the pilots live within the local community and use the clubhouse and café to
socialise with fellow pilots.
22. .Many locals from the close surrounding villages use the Milli Café as a
meeting point during the week and weekend sot meet with friends and family
for coffee, lunch or drinks. It continues to open daily providing a valuable
service as a social gathering place for many local residents being licensed with
excellent catering facilities. The villages of Little and Great Saling no longer
have a public house and so therefore this could be taken as their local.
23. Cultural Asset: The club house formed a valuable part of the first East Anglian
USAF airfield in World War II and is a significant link to a vital period in British
and American co-operation.
24. The clubhouse provides an important link with the extensively documented
history of the American Air Force by the Imperial War Museum with
Andrewsfield as part of the tourist trail of wartime airfields.
25. The local Stebbing Historical Society holds a photographic archive evidence
on the airfield during its active years and the clubhouse provides a fitting
backdrop to hold future exhibitions to honour the American airmen who gave

Page 48

their lives in dangerous missions in the ‘flying fortresses’ over Scandinavia and
Germany.
c) Is it realistic to think that in the next 5 years the use of the building
could further the social wellbeing or interests of the community.
26. The nomination form explains that if listed and placed on the market for sale,
Stebbing Parish Council would be prepared to apply for funding via a PWLB,
appropriate grants approaching community shareholders, etc. or a local group
could have the opportunity to apply for Heritage Lottery Funding to create a
centre dedicated to the ‘special relationship’ between UK and USA within a
unique setting.
27. .Stebbing Parish Council would work with other parishes and interested groups
to support enterprise and provide stewardship, which would be staffed by local
volunteers. They would work with local schools and other bodies to educate
all ages in the history or the East Anglian Airfields.
28. They anticipate that the building would become self-funding and be run by a
management team of volunteers, with Stabbing Parish Council as custodian.
Stebbing Village Hall and Friends Meeting House are already managed in this
manner and run successfully.
Representations
29. The Council has not received any representations regarding the proposed
assets of community value. Any representations received after publication of
the report will be reported to Members at the meeting.
Planning History
30. The site falls within an area of search for a new garden community at land
West of Braintree as identified in the Regulation 19 Pre-submission Local Plan
2018.
31. A larger site, encompassing the airfield, open space and club house, was
nominated by Great Saling Parish Council as an asset of community value in
December 2017. Members of the Assets of Community Value Sub Committee
considered the nomination on 24 January 2018. The nomination was rejected
because there was insufficient information to conclude that the airfield, and
open space uses passed the test for listing. It was felt however that from the
evidence presented the clubhouse use met the test for an asset of community
value and a new nomination was invited.
Conclusion
32. Valid nominations have been made to the Council.
33. Members need to consider whether the evidence provided shows that the
property, current or in the recent past, furthers the social wellbeing or interests
of the community.

Page 49

34. Members need to consider whether it is realistic to think that the property can
continue to be used in a manner that furthers the social wellbeing and interests
of the local community.
35. Consideration of these issues will lead the Cabinet to determine whether the
Club house, Café, ancillary buildings and car park should be listed as an asset
of community value for a period of five years.
Risk Analysis
36.
Risk

Likelihood

Impact

Mitigating actions

The nominating
body or the owner
is unhappy with
the decision
reached.

High risk that
one of the
bodies will be
unhappy with
the decision.

The owner
has rights of
internal review
and appeal
and can claim
for
compensation.

Carefully scrutinise
submissions for
inclusion on the Asset
List so as to ensure
only those which
comply with the
criteria are included.

The
nominating
body does not
have rights of
review or
appeal. A new
nomination
can be made
with additional
information.
If it felt the
Council had
acted
unlawfully, it
could seek to
challenge by
way of judicial
review.

Page 50

Community Right to Bid
NOMINATION FORM
Section 1
Q1

ABOUT YOUR COMMUNITY ORGANISATION

Name and address of your organisation

Organisation name:

Stebbing Parish Council

Address and postcode:

The Old Stables, High Street,Stebbing,CM6 3SG

Registration number
(if you are a charity, company,
CIC or social enterprise)

Q2

Please specify what type of organisation you are

Category

Tick

Parish/Town Council

x

Unconstituted / unincorporated Community Group whose members
include at least 21 individuals who appear on the electoral roll

Neighbourhood Forum designated as pursuant to section 61F of the Town &
Country Planning Act 1990

Industrial & Provident Society which does not distribute any surplus it
makes to its members

Company Limited by Guarantee which does not distribute any surplus it
makes to its members

Community Interest Company which satisfies the requirements of Part 2 of
the Companies (Audit, Investigations and Community Enterprise) Act 2004

Charity

Q3

Who should we contact to discuss this nomination?

Page 51

Name:

Clerk . Greg King

Address and postcode:

The Old Stables, High Street,Stebbing,CM6 3SG

Telephone number

01371 855805

Email address

clerk@stebbingparishcouncil.org.uk

Section 2
Q4

ABOUT THE PROPERTY TO BE NOMINATED

Which asset do you wish to nominate?

Name of property:

Andrewsfield Airfield including runway

Address and postcode:

Andrews Airfield, Saling Road, Stebbing< Dunmow, CM6 3TH

Name of property owner

1. Sharon Harvey 2. Robert Bucknell

Address and postcode:

1. Blake House Blake End, Great Saling CM77 6RA
2. Onchors Farm, Blake End Road, Great Saling, CM7 5DS

Telephone number
Email address (if known) robertbucknell@gmail.com
Current occupier’s name Andrewsfield Aviation Ltd
(if different from property
owner)

Details of occupier’s
interest in property

Leaseholders of the airfield and club house

Page 52

Section 3
ASSET

DEMONSTRATING THE COMMUNITY VALUE OF THE

Q5a Why do you feel the property is an asset of community value?
Please give as much information as possible about the current use of the asset i.e. what
activities take place, what groups use the facility currently or in the recent past etc.
Continue on a separate sheet if necessary. Definition of an asset of community value
can be found in the guidance notes.
Andrewsfield Airfield, Stebbing has a unique place in Uttlesford’s history, it is the only surviving
Second World War airfield still in operation. At its height in 1942/43 over 800 US Airfield were
stationed around the airfield and it was the home of the iconic Flying Fortress US bombers. Later
in the war it housed both RAF and Polish air squadrons. It’s loss would be a major blow to the
20th century history of the region and the important part these airfields played in first the defence
of Britain and later the defeat of Nazi Germany. It is of particular significance this year being the
75th anniversary of VE Day. The historical significance of the airfield has been somewhat
overlooked in recent years, however, local parish councils are determined to reverse this and
build on the current facilities to create a site of interest to local schools, aircraft enthusiast, WW2
veterans and their families and weekend visitors. More details of this are covered under question
Q5b.
Andrewsfield is an active local airfield that has been in use since the Second World War. The
club and Flying school has been active since 1973. Currently there are 60 resident aircraft and
387 Club members. The site comprises of a number of buildings including the Club House Café,
original grass runway and two original WW2 aircraft hangers which is open to the general
public.(see photographs at Appendix A)
Currently the Café is listed as an Asset of Community Value but the remainder of the site is not.
The actual airfield itself is an integral part of the site and is intrinsically linked to the Café and as
such is not considered ancillary to the ACV that is the clubhouse Café. Entrance to the club house
is via a private road though the airfield and obviously the Café could not function without the
entrance road.
The entirety of the site is a part of local life furthering the social wellbeing and social interests and
history of the local community. The Airfield is a sports and recreation asset to the district which is
well established and a vibrant economic one. The Airfield is a unique asset, unlike any other site
in the District.
The runway has a physical and functional relationship with the Club house and Hangers, already
protected by ACV. You cannot have one without the other. The Airfield is also a visual amenity
enjoyed by members and the public when using the Club house Café, which enhances the
experience.

Page 53

The Airfield because of its open nature and maintenance regime provides a suitable habitat to act
as an important staging post for migrant birds where they feed before moving north in the spring.
3 species that are recorded annually on the Airfield are Yellow Wag tail, Wheatear and Whinchat.
Whinchat is now regarded as a globally threatened species.
The local bird watching community regularity watch the site to record the numbers of birds that
are not found on other habitats in the local area. One such species is Grey Partridge which are are
present in very small numbers, often seen feeding on the edge of the Airfield.
Apart from the use by the local communities of Stebbing, the Salings , Rayne and Felsted the is
also use and support of a much wider catchment of a significant aviation community who use the
airfield for recreational purposes, including flying private aircraft, flight training and meeting in
the Club House Café. It is one of the few airfields that provide training in Essex and the subregion for both private and commercial pilots. This is generally a declining activity due to the
closure of many private airfields.
The use of the Airfield is not a minor or infrequent in relationship to the café and should be
considered as non- ancillary. That is, they are clearly inter-dependent and complementary.
While this, as with any activity such as rugby or football, may not be used by every member of
the community, it is open to all who wish to participate.
All flying to and from Andrewsfield is by ordinary members of both the local and wider
community. It is a non-commercial airfield.
Currently 1,500 signatories are held at the Airfield supporting the retention of the entire site as a
valuable part of their community.
Community consultation undertaken for the Draft Neighbourhood Plans for both Stebbing and the
Salings shows a resounding support for Andrewsfield.
This airfield not only formed a valuable part of the first East Anglian USAAF initiative in World
War II, but is of particular importance and interest because it was the first of 14 airfields built by
the USAAF in the UK.
800 US airman lived at Andrewsfield during WW2 and many of their famillies visit each year in
memory of their relatives service in WW2.The airfield was home to the famous Flying Fortress
US bombers and RAF Spitfires and Mustangs also flew from the airfield.
It still opens daily and continues to provide a valuable service as a social gathering place for
many local residents being licensed and has excellent catering facilities. Lt & Gt Saling villages
no longer have a public house. Stebbing has one pub which is currently for sale.
A visit to Andrewsfield is a popular local amenity not just for pilots, but families, cyclists,
motorcycle clubs, walkers, historic aircraft enthusiasts and as a tourist point for visitors to the

Page 54

area. Future generations would not think generously if this significant connection with a vital
period in British and American co-operation was lost. Attached at appendix B & C are letters
received from the families of American Veterans who were based at Andrewsfield during WWII.
The clubhouse provides an important link with the extensively documented history of the
American Air Force by the Imperial War Museum and Andrewsfield is part of the tourist trail of
wartime airfields. Should the airfield be lost to development, it is imperative that some
recognition remains to honour the site’s important past as many former US Airmen, their families
and groups of aviation historians pay regular commemorative visits in tribute to the site.
The local Historical Society holds a photographic archive on the airfield during its active years
(examples at Appendix D) and the clubhouse provides a fitting backdrop to hold future
exhibitions to honour the American Airmen who gave their lives in dangerous missions, flying
the impressive ‘flying fortresses’ over Scandinavia and Germany.
Stebbing and Saling villages are proud of the role of the brave pilots that flew from Andrewsfield
and consider it an intrinsic part of our history.
Q5b How could the building or land be acquired and used in future?
If it is listed as an asset of community value, community interest groups (not limited to
your organisation) will get the opportunity to bid for it if it comes up for sale. Please set
out how you think such a group could fund the purchase of the building or land, and how
they could run it for the benefit of the community. Continue on a separate sheet if
necessary.

If listed as an Asset of Community Value, Stebbing Parish Council would be prepared to work
with neighbouring parishes in applying for funding via a PWLB, appropriate grants, approaching
community shareholders, etc. Or, a local group could have the opportunity to apply for Heritage
Lottery Funding to create a centre dedicated to the ‘Special Relationship’ between UK and the
USA within this Unique setting.
Stebbing Parish Council would work with the active Flying Club which currently operates from
Andrewsfield, other parishes and interested groups to support enterprise and provide stewardship,
which would be managed as at present. We would work with local schools and other bodies to
educate all ages in the history of the East Anglian Airfields i.e. the living conditions of the
airmen, the pressure of war etc via photographic displays, re-enactment, role play, exhibitions
and so on.
Stebbing Parish Council would plan to develop a small museum on the site, built around the
existing memmorabilia in the club house. this will be for visiting airman's families ,air
enthusiasts and tourists and would be a fitting memmorial to those that served.
We would also endeavour to continue the education and training of existing and new pilots.

Page 55

We anticipate the site would become self-funding and be run by a management team of
volunteers, with appointed custodians. Stebbing Village Hall and the Friends Meeting House are
already managed in this manner and run successfully.

Q6 What do you consider to be the boundary of the property?
Please give as much detail as you can, including an Ordnance Survey plan outlining the
site.
The boundary of the entire airfield is marked in red.
The club house and ancillary buildings and carparks (Listed as an ACV) are outlined in light
blue.
Grid Refertence: TL68848
x/y co-ords: 568892/224801

Attachment checklist

□ Copy of group constitution (if applicable)
Names and home addresses of 21 members registered to vote in nomination area
□ (if group is not constituted)
□ Site boundary plan
□ Evidence of current community use e.g. activity programmes, website links etc
Declaration

Page 56

I can confirm that to the best of my knowledge the information contained in this
nomination form is complete and accurate
Signed: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
..
Print Name: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
.
Position in Organisation: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
.
Date: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
Date received:

Decision deadline:

APPENDIX A

Page 57

APPENDIX B

Page 58

My name is Tom Farrell. I was contacted by Linda Coviello regarding the plans to
develop Andrews Field for housing, and the movement to challenge these development
plans. As many with a distant connection to Andrews Field I am saddened that this is
even a topic of discussion. Andrews Field has been, and always will be, hallowed ground
and a monument to the men and women who used it as a base to fight Nazi Germany and
protect our way of life.
We here in the USA have little say in what transpires in Essex, but we can raise our voice
along with the local Great Sailing citizens to protect some, if not all of this historical site.
My father is Jim “Boss” Farrell, the first pilot of Flak-Bait. My father conceived the
name and designed the nose art, which was painted on the plane by company artist Ted
Simonitis. My father’s name is still evident under the Captain’s window on Flak Bait.
I have never had a chance to visit Andrews Field. I understand that there is a small
memorial to the 322nd Bomb Group in one of the remaining buildings. At the very least
this monument and as many original buildings as possible should be saved. My father
also spoke of the White Hart Tavern where many of the American pilots and crew would
relax after their missions. I understand that the White Hart is still standing, but it is a Tea
Room / Restaurant today. If the White Hart has any artifacts from the days when the
322nd was active at Andrews Field, they should be saved as well.
I don’t know what else I can do from the States. If you have any ideas or need me to
contact others I’d be happy to do so.
Tom Farrell
Williamsburg, Virginia, USA.

APPENDIX C
Thank you for inviting our family to provide feedback regarding the proposed destruction
of Andrews Field to make way for a housing development in the Great Saling area.
When you told me what the plan was, I can’t begin to describe how upset it made me. I
can only imagine how your residents feel. Andrews Field is an historical aviation site, a
national and world treasure. My father, Capt. Sherman Best, 322ndBomb Group, 449th
Bomb Squadron, who passed away in 2016 at the age of 95, was stationed there in World
War II and flew 20 missions as the pilot of Flak-Bait (which is now being restored in the
Smithsonian Air & Space Museum – see this article which was written by astronaut Tom
Jones, featuring my father along with the Curator of the museum
[https://www.airspacemag.com/airspacemag/hundreds-holes-iflak-baiti180954662/](https://www.airspacemag.com/airspacemag/hundreds-holes-iflak-baiti180954662/)). We heard so many stories about Andrews Field from my Dad, that we
traveled there with him from the US in September 2000 so he could sign the Reunion
Board in the clubhouse. The atmosphere was thick with history as we made our way to

Page 59

the clubhouse. In my mind, I pictured all the stories he told, and what it must have been
like for the airmen stationed there during the “war to end all wars”. When Dad walked up
and signed the Reunion Board, there were dozens of people in the clubhouse. They stood
up and applauded and cheered. I don’t think I’ve ever been more overcome with emotion
and pride. There wasn’t a dry eye in the house. As we walked back out onto the tarmac,
overlooking the Quonset hut, my father’s shoulders began to shake and he started to sob.
It seems that was the spot that he and his best friend, both piloting their own planes, were
making a night landing without lights. Dad chose one runway, his friend chose the other.
What they couldn’t see in the blackout was a bulldozer parked on the runway. Dad
watched his best friend crash into the bulldozer and die in the flames. The memory was
so strong that my father was completely overcome on that beautiful day 56 years later.
Now it is 19 years after that scene outside the clubhouse, and I too am still filled with
emotion, I will never forget my father reliving that awful moment.
I am asking the powers that be for this development project to honor the lives lost on that
spot, that sacred piece of ground where history was made, where my father took off on 3
missions on D-Day along with countless others. That little air field played a very
important part in World War II. Lives were sacrificed there. Surely you can preserve
Andrews Field as an important historical monument and give it, and the memory of all
who served there, the honor and dignity it deserves.
Thank you for allowing me a voice on this important issue. I will never forget the
kindness of the gentleman in the White Hart Pub (a hangout of Dad’s when he was
allowed off the base), when we showed up near 3:00 so Dad could raise a pint to the
memory of his airmen friends. The barkeep insisted on staying open and bought us all a
round. He had the deep respect and honor that the developers seem to be lacking. Maybe
someday I can return to your beautiful countryside – I have ancestors who built the
Church of Stratford St. Mary, over by Dedham – and if the White Hart is still there, it
would be my pleasure to raise a pint to you and your committee in celebration of your
victory!
Wishing you much success,
Linda Best Coviello
Maiden, NC, USA

APPENDIX D

Page 60

Page 61

Page 62

Page 63

Page 64

Page 65

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

